FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 9/1/2021 9:36 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/3/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100170-3

No. 82048-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Estate of:

ZORA P. PALERMINI

Deceased.

PETITION FOR REVIEW DOMINIQUÉ JINHONG

Karen L. Cobb, WSBA #34958 Frey Buck, P.S. 1200 5th Ave Suite 1900 Seattle, WA 98101-3135 Aaron P. Orheim, WSBA #47670 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Petitioner

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Dominiqué Jinhong seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division I, filed its opinion on

August 2, 2021. A copy of that opinion is in the Appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does Division I's opinion, upholding a finding of undue influence based on pure speculation where the decedent was verifiably competent and in control enough to access the Death with Dignity Act, conflict with published authority holding that such speculative evidence is insufficient, an issue of public importance?

2. Does Division I's opinion, condoning the trial court's evidentiary errors, including a discriminatory application of the spousal privilege exemption to a same-sex couple, conflict with published authority where the decedent's wishes were ignored and Dominiqué was denied a fair chance to defend herself, issues of public and constitutional importance?

3. Does Division I's fraud analysis conflict with precedent where the Estate failed to prove every element by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence?

4. Do the related issues of evidence sufficient to support disinheritance under the slayer/abuser statute and the

plenary authority of a court hearing a TEDRA case warrant review and reversal?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Polly Palermini was a "fiercely independent" woman, "very devoted to her family," including her granddaughter Dominiqué Jinhong. RP 940-41, 1588. Dominiqué and Polly were very close; Dominiqué lived with Polly as a child. RP 1871-72. They had a loving, trusting relationship, and Polly was "proud" of Dominiqué who had become a lawyer and administrative law judge. RP 557-58, 954. Polly's only remaining biological family members were her two adult sons, Matt and Louis Daniel ("Dan") Palermini.¹ They were both disabled and required assistance meeting their daily needs. RP 455-86.

Polly set up a living trust intended to provide small sums of money (around \$200 a month) to pay for Matt and Dan's supplemental needs during their lifetimes upon Polly's death. CP

¹ Polly disinherited Dominiqué's mother.

3267-74, 8330-45. When Dan and Matt died, Polly's estate would pass 50 percent to Dominiqué and 25 percent each to two adult neighbors who Polly was also close with. CP 3274. The terms, beneficiaries, and trustees had changed over the years; Polly sometimes made these changes informally, before having an attorney redraft paperwork. CP 3243-47, 8334.

That said, Polly's estate attorney, John Kenney, testified: "Dominiqué was the one constant" in Polly's estate. RP 444. Another constant was Polly's "adamant" desire for Dominiqué to have her house. CP 502-03; RP 892, 925. Although the trust allowed Dominiqué to buy the house at 90 percent of its value, Polly also considered other options, including gifting or selling the house at a "deep discount." RP 881-82, 892.

Polly also always wanted Dominiqué to manage her endof-life affairs. CP 8332, 8336. Although the trust named Polly's accountant, George Braly, as co-trustee upon Polly's *death*, Polly stated that Dominiqué would take care of her wishes during her lifetime, and Braly would only help out "if" needed. CP 8343. Polly remained independent until she entered the hospital for the last time, for heart failure. CP 3528-40. Several weeks prior, Polly went to her bank and made Dominiqué the payableupon-death beneficiary of her checking account. CP 3395, 6643-45; RP 700. Polly intended this account to remain separate from her trust. RP 8335. A bank employee testified that he saw no signs of any influence from Dominiqué. RP 721-23. He also testified that Polly intended to add Dominiqué as her power of attorney to enable Dominiqué to manage her affairs. RP 728.

Polly executed a durable power of attorney days before she entered the hospital. CP 3215-23. Two disinterested witnesses testified that Polly understood what she was doing and that she wanted to give Dominiqué authority over her assets. RP 887, 900.

Kenney had drafted a placeholder power of attorney that would have appointed Braly and Dominiqué as co-agents *if* Polly became incapacitated. CP 3336-56. However, Polly chose to appoint Dominiqué as her sole agent during the final weeks of her life, without ever being found incapacitated. CP 3215-23; RP 887. Kenney admitted that Polly had this power and, in such a scenario, her agent would be governed *not by the trust*, but by the power of attorney. CP 3291; RP 427-28.

Polly was admitted to hospice care because of her heart failure on December 12, 2017. *Id.* Dominiqué began exercising her power as Polly's attorney-in-fact, keeping contemporaneous notes of Polly's wishes and directions in an instruction log. CP 1521-41.

True to her independence, Polly chose to die using the Death with Dignity ("DWD") Act, RCW 70.245, *et seq.* CP 3628. Thus, Polly had to undergo examination by two different physicians to determine whether she was mentally fit for DWD.

Dr. Andrea Chun spoke with Polly several times, and it was "clear that [Polly] was competent and clear...not at all timid." RP 1764. Dr. Chun testified that Polly was an "inspir[ing]...independent, strong woman [who was] not being coerced or influenced in any way." RP 1766. She observed a "supporting" and "trusting relationship" with no signs of coercion or undue influence between Polly and Dominiqué. RP 1766-67. Even at the end, Polly's mental state remained "very clear." RP 1767.

Likewise, Dr. Elaine Sugimoto examined Polly and found she was competent, possessing the "decision making capacity" to request DWD, and "was doing it voluntarily." RP 1555. She documented that Dominiqué was Polly's "main...support." CP 7834.²

Polly's nurse, Gwendoline Thompson, also testified that Polly was an "amazingly spirited, clear, vocal woman" who "knew what she wanted." RP 1570. She observed Dominiqué visit Polly often and testified that they were "very loving." RP 1572. As an experienced hospice nurse, Thompson knew the signs of "coercion," signs she never observed when Polly and

² Polly took "low dose" palliative care medication, but doctors confirmed that her mental capacity was in no way diminished near the end of her life. RP 1306-08, 1556-57.

Dominiqué were together. RP 1572-73. Another nurse witnessed Polly signing the quitclaim deed to her house, transferring the house as a gift to Dominiqué. RP 574. She saw no signs of coercion and had no concerns that Polly did not know what she was signing. *Id.*

Many friends also testified that Polly was "very sharp" in her final days. RP 915. "[H]er brain and her heart were still as passionate as always." RP 916. She remained a mentally "strong...determined...and opinionated" until the very end. RP 939-40. As her friends observed, Polly's focus also changed near the end of her life: "She started looking a little bigger than her boys." RP 923. Polly gave a "little something...to a list of people" to "acknowledge" them. RP 934-95.³

³ Polly also always wanted Dan to have a good car. CP 8333. At Polly's direction, Dominiqué bought Dan a car near the end of 2017 with her own money that Polly promised to reimburse. CP 8519-36; RP 1925, 1929.

Unfortunately, Dan's health took a sudden turn for the worse, deteriorating quickly at the end of 2017. RP 2007-09. Dan's impeding death was a major shift in the family's needs going forward. Dan would no longer be available to help care for his brother; someone else would have to ensure his finances and daily needs were met. CP 8331-35. And the trust required less funding, as it no longer needed to provide for Dan's care. *Id.* Dan passed away on January 9, 2018. RP 2007.

Given this new reality, Polly decided to gift her home to Dominiqué. CP 8482. She signed a quitclaim deed, witnessed by two disinterested witnesses who testified that Polly knew what she was signing. RP 574. She also ripped apart a promissory note drafted to convey the property as a sale and wrote, "gift for [Dominiqué]" across the note, signing her initials. CP 8254. She also signed two separate real estate tax affidavits, conveying the house as a gift. CP 78-94, 1521-41. Polly also paid Dominiqué's law school loans, which she had cosigned, and some campaign debt Dominiqué incurred when she ran for judge. *Id.* Polly told Matt about these intended transactions before she died, as Matt admitted during discovery. CP 697-704.⁴

Polly also directed that Dominiqué transfer \$628,000 from her Morgan Stanley investment accounts to Polly's checking account outside the trust to have enough liquid assets to pay for her and Matt's care. CP 78-94, 1521-41.

Polly continued to oversee her affairs until her final day. RP 1643-44. For example, Dominiqué's wife heard Polly ask if the "transfer [from Morgan Stanley] had gone through." RP 1641. When Dominiqué told her the transfer did go through, Polly responded "good." *Id.*⁵ She also continued to check her mail, including the statements to her financial accounts, where

⁴ The trial court ultimately excluded Matt's admissions under the dead man statute, CP 1350-51; RP 1959, even though statements *against* a party's financial interest are not excluded by the rule.

⁵ The trial court ultimately excluded this testimony as hearsay, RP 1643, 1650, even though a question and a response revealing her knowledge and mental feeling are not hearsay.

she confirmed the transfers she directed Dominiqué to undertake. CP 8484; RP 937-38.

Polly passed on January 12, 2018, via DWD selfadministered medication.

Soon after, Braly filed a TEDRA petition against Dominiqué. CP 3-15. Because he was named as co-trustee of Polly's trust upon Polly's death or incapacity, he believed Dominiqué acted beyond her authority during Polly's lifetime, even though Polly named her as her *sole agent* using a durable power of attorney. CP 3-15. He also claimed that Dominiqué fraudulently created and sent a document to Morgan Stanley when requesting a funds transfer that listed her as the sole trustee of the trust. CP 8-9. But Dominiqué accessed those funds not as trustee, but as Polly's attorney-in-fact, and she simply scanned the document from Polly's trust binder, which contained multiple versions and drafts of the trust. RP 1903.

Dominiqué immediately resigned as Polly's agent, voluntarily froze all disputed funds, and disclosed all documents

and files. CP 125-36. Dominiqué also sought mediation as required by the trust. CP 96-97, 3287; RP 429-30. But rather than avoiding court, per Polly's wishes, Braly resisted because he wanted the "joy of dragging Dominiqué's ass before a judge." CP 8626.

Braly took an aggressive stance, knowing that the dead man's statute, RCW 5.60.030, would hinder Dominiqué's defense; however, he waived the statute's protections throughout the case. For example, the Estate's petition included multiple statements about his transactions with Polly and statements Polly made. *E.g.*, CP 6 ("Polly repeatedly told Petitioner, her friends, and Mr. Kenney, that her sole concern was the care of her 'boys'...and that she intended the entirety of her estate...to be available to care for them"); CP 7 ("Polly never reported the creation of the 2017 Durable Power of Attorney to Petitioner").⁶

⁶ Assertions an event did not occur waive the statute the same as affirmative testimony. *Bentzen v. Demmons*, 68 Wn. App. 339, 346, 842 P.2d 1015 (1993).

Later at trial, the Estate also waived the statute by grilling Dominiqué about her actions as Polly's attorney-in-fact, *assuming* Dominiqué initiated every payment and check drawn on Polly's account during her final weeks. RP 591-94, 599-600.

The case went to bench trial, and the court repeatedly issued one-sided evidentiary rulings favoring the Estate. The court refused to find that the Estate waived the dead man's statute,⁷ refused to consider admissible evidence and admissions about Polly's wishes, and even permitted Dominiqué's ex-wife to testify over Dominiqué's objection because their same-sex marriage was unconstitutionally invalidated.

The court found Dominiqué liable for undue influence, breach of fiduciary duties, and fraud. Despite the testimony from friends and treating medical professionals that Polly was independent and in control until the end, the trial court relied on

⁷ Dominiqué repeatedly argued the Estate waived the statute's protections before and during trial. *E.g.*, CP 1053-65; RP 154-80, 522-26.

speculation from non-family members that she *could* be subject to undue influence, including from the Estate's medical "expert" who never examined Polly and admitted that his testimony was only "speculative." RP 1316, 1323-24. The trial court not only nullified the *inter vivos* gifts and the Morgan Stanley transfers to Polly's own non-trust checking account, it disinherited Dominiqué under the slayer/abuser statute, RCW 11.84.150, and held her liable for \$663,632.84 in taxes, fees, and costs. CP 8881-8909.

Division I affirmed despite the trial court's litany of evidentiary errors, finding them "harmless." Op. 9-20. It rejected off-hand, all evidence that Polly was *verifiably competent and in control* as required to use DWD, op. at 21-22, and rejected the rest of her challenges. This petition follows.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Division I's opinion conflicts with published decisions on issues of public and constitutional interest. This includes the

retroactive effect of *Obergefell v. Hodges*, 576 U.S. 644, 135 S. Ct. 2584, 192 L. Ed. 2d 609 (2015), and the testamentary capacity of a decedent who ends her life using DWD – issues that have not yet been considered by this Court. Review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

(1) <u>Speculation Cannot Support an Undue Influence</u> <u>Finding Under Existing, Published Precedent</u>

The trial court erred in finding Dominiqué breached any duty or exerted any undue influence over Polly. Rather, she acted as Polly's attorney-in-fact and followed her directions as Polly remained verifiably competent and fully in control. Division I's opinion is based on pure speculation and conflicts with existing precedent on an issue of public importance. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

"A party claiming undue influence must prove it by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence." *In re Melter*, 167 Wn. App. 285, 301, 273 P.3d 991 (2012). Any influence is not undue influence; it must be so untoward that it "involves unfair persuasion that seriously impairs the free and competent exercise of judgment." *Kitsap Bank v. Denley*, 177 Wn. App. 559, 570, 312 P.3d 711 (2013). Whether undue influence has occurred is a mixed question of fact and law. *In re Melter*, 167 Wn. App. at 300. Thus, courts have not hesitated to reverse an undue influence determination where clear, cogent, and convincing evidence is lacking. *E.g., Id.*; *In re Smith's Estate*, 68 Wn.2d 145, 157, 411 P.2d 879 (1966); *In re Bottger's Estate*, 14 Wn.2d 676, 708, 129 P.2d 518 (1942).

In conflict with these decisions and the standard of review, the Division I merely deferred to the trial court's assumption that Dominiqué exerted undue influence and breached her fiduciary duty as Polly's attorney in fact by accepting *inter vivos* gifts. Op. at 21-22. But the trial court relied on pure speculation of *possible influence* and the rebuttable presumption of undue influence alone, in violation of published precedent.

Dominiqué admitted that she acted as a fiduciary as Polly's attorney-in-fact, and, as such, carried the initial burden to produce evidence to counter a "rebuttable presumption" that undue influence occurred. *E.g.*, *Kitsap Bank*, 177 Wn. App. at 570-71. But the key word is "*rebuttable*."

"Presumptions must give way in light of evidence," and the burden shifts back to the Estate where no evidence exists that Polly was ever subjected to undue influence. *In re Estate of Jones*, 170 Wn. App. 594, 611, 287 P.3d 610 (2012); *Matter of Estate of Lint*, 135 Wn.2d 518, 536, 957 P.2d 755 (1998) ("The existence of the presumption...does not, however, relieve the contestants from the duty of establishing their contention by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence.") (quotation omitted).

The *Estate of Jones* court found that the presumption of undue influence was necessarily overcome where a party presented evidence that a decedent was competent and capable of making her own decisions. *Id.* at 610-11. Absent any other evidence that the testator was not mentally competent, the court dismissed the TEDRA claim for undue influence *as a matter of law. Id.*; *see also, e.g., Zvolis v. Condos*, 56 Wn.2d 275, 282, 352 P.2d 809 (1960) (evidence from family and friends about the "capacity of the donor" and that the donor's gifts to a fiduciary were "free and voluntary" defeats a claim of undue influence).

This case presents a unique situation where Dominiqué presented far more than just evidence from friends and family that the decedent was competent. This case is perhaps the first where a court found that a decedent was unduly influenced during the same time period she was independently confirmed competent and qualified to access DWD. At the very least, this Court has never examined this situation, which raises questions of public importance.

The rigorous standards imposed by DWD show that Polly was verifiably competent and in control. RCW 70.245.040. As required by law, two physicians interviewed Polly, reviewed her medical records, and confirmed in writing that she was competent, acting voluntarily, and making an informed decision. *Id.*; RCW 70.245.050. She could not use DWD if either physician determined that she "may be suffering from a

psychiatric or psychological disorder or depression causing impaired judgment." RCW 70.245.060. This protection is broad, as it does not require *proof* or *certainty* that a patient suffers from impaired judgment. Rather, *any* indication that the patient's judgment "may be impaired" disqualifies a patient, without further counseling. *Id*.

Polly's treating physicians and nurses testified that she was fiercely independent, fully competent, and showed no signs of undue influence. Drs. Sugimoto and Chun examined Polly three separate times, including just after Dan had passed away, and still found her competent, in good spirits, and "very clear" minded. RP 1767. Polly's friends confirmed that Polly was mentally "sharp" and showed no signs of influence. RP 915. Other professionals, like nurses and the bank employee who prepared the payable-on-death designation naming Dominiqué the sole beneficiary, also saw no signs of influence. RP 721-23.

While fiduciary status is an important consideration, so are the host of other mandatory legal factors, such as the "age or condition of health and mental vigor of the testator, the nature or degree of relationship between the testator and the beneficiary, the opportunity for exerting an undue influence, and the naturalness or unnaturalness of the will." *In re Tate's Estate*, 32 Wn.2d 252, 254-55, 201 P.2d 182 (1948). Division I wholly ignored all these factors. Again, this Court clarified, relying "solely on the weight of the presumption" is not enough to support an undue influence finding. *Mueller v. Wells*, 185 Wn.2d 1, 16, 367 P.3d 580 (2016).

There is zero evidence of undue influence outside the fact that Dominiqué was Polly's fiduciary. But she was also *her granddaughter*, and one of just *two remaining relatives* when Polly died. Dominiqué was the "one constant" in all Polly's estate plans and shouldered the responsibility of caring for her disabled uncle after Polly and Dan passed away, which she continues to do. RP 1885-86. There is nothing "unnatural" about Polly's decisions to appoint her granddaughter as her attorneyin-fact, gift her granddaughter the house where she raised her, and intentionally decrease the possible share unrelated, neighbor beneficiaries would receive.

The Estate offered zero evidence of undue influence beyond speculation from non-family members like Braly and Kenney, that Polly would not change her trust or appoint a single attorney-in-fact, even though she had done so several times in her final years and that she had full authority to do so up until the day she died. *Id.* Speculation is not enough under cases like *Mueller* and *Zvolis*, *supra*.

Division I relied heavily on the fact that the Estate presented a non-examining neuropsychologist called to comment on Polly's mental state. Op. at 21. The "expert" never met or examined Polly, and he admitted that his conclusions were entirely "speculative," and that he never saw any direct evidence of undue influence. RP 1316, 1323-24. By deferring to this testimony, Division I's opinion further conflicts with precedent because such speculative expert testimony is *inadmissible* to prove undue influence. *See, e.g., State v. Guilliot*, 106 Wn. App. 355, 364, 22 P.3d 1266 (2001) (disqualifying speculative expert testimony that defendant's hyperglycemia led to diminished capacity). And, as this Court has said, when assessing testamentary capacity, a decedent's attending physicians must be given "great weight" over other "expert" physicians who did not examine the decedent. *Bottger's Estate*, 14 Wn.2d at 692-97.

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