#### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/1/2021 10:21 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100170-3

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF ZORA P. PALERMINI

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW GEORGE BRALY, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE AND TRUSTEE

Teresa R. Byers, WSBA #34388 Daniel J. Vecchio, WSBA #44632 Ogden Murphy Wallace PLLC 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3500 Seattle, WA 98164 206-447-7000

Attorneys for George Braly, as Personal Representative and Trustee

#

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

# V. ARGUMENT

### A. <u>Petitioner Fails To Show Review Is Warranted Under</u> <u>RAP 13.4</u>.

Petitions for review to the Supreme Court are only granted where (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals; (2) the case involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States; or (3) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). As discussed herein, Petitioner fails to show that any of these bases for review are present.

As an initial matter, the Opinion cites to and is fully reconciled with the decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. Indeed, the Court of Appeals itself noted that "none of the cases cited by [Petitioner] support her argument." Opinion at 13. As further discussed herein, the purported "conflicts" with existing caselaw identified in the Petition are all simply the result of Petitioner's misreading or mischaracterization of the law.

Furthermore, Petitioner fails to identify any actual matter of public importance implicated by her claims. This Court evaluates whether a petition concerns matters of public importance by considering "(1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question." In re Mines, 146 Wash. 2d 279, 285, 45 P.3d 535 (2002). Thus, the Court looks for a matter affecting "a substantial percentage of the population" or one of "statewide importance," resolution of which will have an "important consequence to agricultural, industrial, financial, commercial and labor-management activities throughout the state." Washington Nat. Gas Co. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish Ctv., 77 Wash. 2d 94, 96, 459 P.2d 633 (1969). Here, the unpublished Opinion merely affirmed the outcome of a civil trial between private parties: Petitioner, the Estate whose assets she misappropriated, and the rightful beneficiaries of that Estate. The issues at stake in this case were certainly important to the Parties, but they did not involve a legal matter of *public* importance.

Nor does this case present any significant question of constitutional law. Petitioner contends that the trial court's refusal to exclude certain testimony on the grounds of spousal privilege raises the question of the extent to which *Obergefell v*. *Hodges*, 576 U.S. 644, 135 S.Ct. 2584, 192 L. Ed.2d 609 (2015) retroactively voided the Oregon Supreme Court's decision in *Li v. State*, 338 Or. 376, 110 P.3d 91 (2005). The Court of Appeals found it unnecessary to reach that argument in order to resolve the issues in this case, however, as the testimony Petitioner sought to exclude was "admitted through several other sources, including Polly's handwritten notes." Opinion at 20. Moreover, any determination as to the effect of *Obergefell* on *Li* is an issue of Oregon law which – without the need to reach it in this case – is best left to an Oregon court.

Unable to meet the standard for review under RAP 13.4, and just as she did before the Court of Appeals, Petitioner's brief merely attempts to relitigate a multi-week trial with proffers of alleged "evidence" that was never admitted or even offered at trial. But that is not the purpose of review by this Court, and the Petition should be denied.

# B. <u>This Court Should Deny Review Of The Court</u> Of Appeals' Conclusion That The Evidence At Trial <u>Was Sufficient</u>.

After a bench trial, appellate review is limited to whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings of fact and whether those findings support the conclusions of law. Endicott v. Saul, 142 Wn. App. 899, 909, 176 P.3d 560 (2008). In evaluating the sufficiency of the evidence, the reviewing court views all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the prevailing party. Jensen v. Lake Jane Estates, 165 Wn. App. 100, 104, 267 P.3d 435 (2011). The appellate court does not review the trial court's credibility determinations or weigh conflicting evidence. Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, Inc., 153 Wn. App. 710, 717, 225 p.3d 266 (2009). Applying this standard, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected Petitioner's contention that the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to support the trial court's finding that she engaged in undue influence, and review of the Court of Appeals' decision is unwarranted for at least the following three reasons.

First, Petitioner failed to raise her argument that the evidence at trial was too "speculative" to support the finding of undue influence before the Court of Appeals. Indeed, the only evidence Petitioner described as "speculative" in her brief before that court was the testimony of the Estate's neuropsychology expert – but contrary to Petitioner's contention that the Court of Appeals "relied heavily" on the expert's testimony, Petition at 20, the Court of Appeals did not even *mention* this witness, or his testimony, in its decision, let alone rely on it. It is well-settled that this Court does not consider issues raised for the first time in a petition for review and should deny review of this issue on that basis alone. *Crystal Ridge Homeowner's Ass'n v. City of Bothell*, 182 Wn.2d 665, 678, 343 P.3d 746 (2015).

Second, and perhaps more fundamentally, Petitioner's contention that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with published authority is based entirely on her application of an incorrect legal standard. Because Petitioner was concededly Polly's fiduciary, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed that it was *Petitioner's* burden at trial to prove by *clear, cogent and*  convincing evidence that self-dealing actions she took in a fiduciary capacity were **not** the result of undue influence or fraud – as the very cases Petitioner cites make plain. Opinion at 21-22; In re Melter, 167 Wn. App. 285, 296, 273 P.3d 991 (2012) ("if the recipient has a confidential or fiduciary relationship with the donor ... the burden of persuasion shifts to the donee to prove that the gift was intended and not the result of undue influence"); Wilkins v. Lasater, 46 Wn. App. 766, 777, 733 P.2d 221, 228 (1987) ("[t]he burden of proof is on the fiduciary to demonstrate no breach of loyalty has been committed"); McCutcheon v. Brownfield, 2 Wn. App. 348, 357, 467 P.2d 868, 874 (1970) ("Because undue influence is treated in law as a species of fraud, evidence of a gift between persons in a confidential relationship must be clear, cogent and convincing.") (emphasis added, internal citations omitted). The presumption against gifts in the context of a fiduciary relationship acts to invalidate the transaction if the fiduciary is unable to meet her burden. Meyer v. Campion, 120 Wn. 457,

468, 207 P. 670 (1922).

Petitioner makes much of the fact that the presumption of undue influence by a fiduciary may be rebutted, but tellingly omits any discussion of the well-settled rule discussed in the foregoing authority and by the Court of Appeals that such rebuttal must be made by *clear, cogent, and convincing* evidence. Opinion at 21-22. Instead, Petitioner wrongly asserts that the *Estate* bore the burden to prove undue influence by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence, but Petitioner herself needed only to introduce some modicum of evidence concerning Polly's competence to meet her own burden to rebut the presumption. See, e.g., Petition at 17-19. That is not the law, and the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Petitioner had failed to meet her burden is in perfect harmony with controlling authority. Opinion at 21-22.

Third, Petitioner again incorrectly argues that evidence of Polly's *competence* – which was never in dispute, nor was it the subject of any claims at trial – somehow negates evidence of undue influence. As the Court of Appeals correctly held, however, a person who is *competent* may nevertheless be unduly influenced. Opinion at 22 (citing *In re Estate of Haviland*, 162 Wn. App. 548, 567, 255 P.3d 854 (2011); see also Matter of Estate of Lint, 135 Wn.2d 518, 535, 957 P.2d 755 (1998) ("A will of a person who otherwise possesses testamentary capacity may be set aside upon a showing that a beneficiary exercised undue influence over the testator.") (citing *Dean v. Jordan*, 194 Wn. 661, 79 P.2d 331 (1938)).

That conclusion is not in conflict with the established precedent on which Petitioner seeks to rely. In declining to find undue influence, the court in *In re Estate of Jones*, 170 Wn. App. 594, 287 P.3d 610 (2012) found far more than competence on the part of the testator, for the fiduciaries at issue had introduced evidence to establish that the transaction at issue was favorable to the decedent and that decedent had engaged in the transaction after consulting with an independent financial advisor. *Id.* at 617-18. This evidence, coupled with the

opposing party's failure to adduce any evidence of undue influence <u>at all</u>, led the *Jones* court to conclude that summary judgment had properly been granted. *Id.* at 618. Those facts are markedly different from those at issue here, and *Jones* simply is not at odds with the Opinion.

Similarly, the court in Zvolis v. Condos, 56 Wn.2d 275, 352 P.2d 809 (1960) merely declined to hold that the fact that the decedent had not sought independent advice before engaging in the transaction was dispositive of undue influence. There, the court noted that the recipient of the gift had not initiated the transfer and that the evidence showed that he had not used undue influence to obtain it. Id. at 279. The evidence in this case was directly to the contrary. In addition, Lint affirms the proposition relied upon by the Court of Appeals that a beneficiary occupying a fiduciary position bears the burden to overcome the presumption of undue influence by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. 135 Wn.2d at 535-36 (citing Dean, 194 Wn. at 671-72).

The Court of Appeals considered each of the foregoing authorities, and correctly held that it was Petitioner's burden at trial to prove by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that the many benefits she reaped for herself while acting as Polly's fiduciary were *not* the product of undue influence. Petitioner utterly failed to do so, as there was little competent evidence introduced in her favor as to *any* of the subject transactions.<sup>1</sup>

#### C. <u>Review Of Petitioner's Evidentiary Complaints</u> <u>Is Unwarranted</u>.

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Petitioner's claims of error in connection with the trial court's evidentiary rulings, and determined that even if there had been error as to certain discrete pieces of evidence, such error was harmless in light of the "overwhelming" evidence against Petitioner. Opinion at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It is worth nothing that the trial court, in fact, found that not only had Petitioner failed to meet her burden, but that even if the burden of proof had rested with the Estate – which it did not – the Estate *would have met that burden*, as it had actually proven by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that the transfer of Polly's house, the transfers from her investment account and the transfers from her checking account all were financial exploitation. CP 2112.

# 1. The trial court's ruling regarding spousal privilege was, at most, harmless error.

Petitioner first takes issue with the trial court's refusal to bar the testimony of Petitioner's former domestic partner Kelly Montgomery – from whom she separated in 2006 – on the grounds of spousal privilege. The trial court ruled that because the Oregon Supreme Court invalidated Petitioner's same-sex marriage to Ms. Montgomery in 2005, the two were not legally married at the time of the communications, as would be required to invoke spousal privilege. Opinion at 18-19.

Petitioner contends that because the Oregon Supreme Court's decision invalidating same-sex marriages was later abrogated by *Obergefell*, the decision invalidating her marriage to Ms. Montgomery was void *ab initio* and the two were thus legally married at the time of the communications to which Ms. Montgomery testified. Petition at 25. The Court of Appeals declined to reach the issue, however, for it found that the testimony covered a period of time before the two had married and, even if the testimony was improperly admitted, such error

would have been harmless in light of the voluminous other evidence. Opinion at 19-20. Indeed, the Court of Appeals noted that the same information to which Ms. Montgomery testified had come in through other sources, including Polly's handwritten notes. *Id*.

Petitioner argues that this Court nevertheless should review whether spousal privilege applied to the testimony at issue due to the constitutional importance of recognizing the legitimacy of same-sex relationships, and, she contends, because there is precedent for applying the spousal privilege even to couples who are not legally married. Petition at 25. While Respondent does not disagree that the Supreme Court's decision in *Obergefell* righted a longstanding injustice, that alone does not warrant review of the Court of Appeals' decision for at least three reasons.

First, as noted above, the Court of Appeals found that it was unnecessary to reach the issue to resolve the case at bar. In light of that holding, there is no need for this Court to weigh in on an issue of Oregon law, as it would not make a difference in the outcome of this case one way or another.<sup>2</sup>

Second, the ruling urged by Petitioner – that *Obergefell* revived her "marriage" to Ms. Montgomery – would lead to a markedly untenable result. For if Petitioner's marriage to Ms. Montgomery was never voided, then Petitioner and Ms. Montgomery are in fact *still married*, as they never filed for divorce. At the time of trial, Petitioner thus would have been married to two different people, which is a result barred everywhere, and one we presume no one involved would countenance. Such a ruling would mean that numerous couples who have long since separated would, without their knowledge, suddenly be legally married to one another again. That is a result the Court need not, and should not, reach.

Third, Petitioner's attempted reliance on McDonald v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Texas District Court opinion cited by Petitioner does not compel a different result. Rather, *Ranolls v. Dewling*, 223 F. Supp. 3d 613 (E.D. Tex. 2016) reached only the narrow conclusion that *Obergefell* could be applied to allow same-sex partners to claim benefits or standing as "surviving spouses" of their deceased partners who had died prior to *Obergefell*.

White, 46 Wn. 334, 337-38, 89 P. 891 (1907) for the

proposition that she and Ms. Montgomery should be treated as common-law spouses is unavailing because Washington long ago eliminated the doctrine of common law marriage. *Meton v. State Indus. Ins. Dep't*, 104 Wn. 652, 655, 177 P. 696 (1919). Nor does *State v. Denton*, 97 Wn. App. 267, 270, 983 P.2d 693 (1999), resurrect common-law marriage, as that court merely recognized that the lack of a marriage license did not invalidate an otherwise legally valid marriage.

# 2. There was no waiver of the Dead Man's Statute.

Petitioner exhorts this Court to review the Opinion with respect to whether the Estate waived the protections of the Dead Man's Statute, RCW 5.60.030 (the "DMS") at trial. In general, the DMS bars "testimony from a party in interest as to (1) any transaction had by him or her with the deceased and (2) any statement made to him or her, or in his or her presence, by the deceased, when the testimony is adverse to the deceased and the opposing party claims through the deceased's estate." *Thor v.*  McDearmid, 63 Wn. App. 193, 199, 817 P.2d 1380 (1991).

Petitioner does not seek review of the Court of Appeals' ruling as to the proper scope and application of the DMS at trial in the first instance, and thus concedes that such application was proper. Instead, she argues that the Court of Appeals erred by rejecting her contention that the Estate and/or Polly's son, Matt, waived the protections of the DMS either by calling Petitioner as an adverse witness or by responding to Petitioner's written discovery. Petitioner is wrong.

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